FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/19/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 4/19/2023 1:19 PM

101916-5

Court of Appeals File No. 57134-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

JOSHUA PENNER and TODD McKELLIPS, individually and on behalf of a class of all persons similarly situated,

Petitioners/Plaintiffs,

VS.

CENTRAL PUGET SOUND REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY and STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents/Defendants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Joshua Penner and Todd McKellips ("Penner") ask this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

A copy of the published Court of Appeals decision, *Penner v. Central Puget Sound Regional Transit Authority*, — Wn.App. 2d —, 535 P.3d 1010, 2023 WL 2579066 (March 21, 2023), is reproduced in the Appendix to this Petition at pages A-1 to A-18.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. May a court bar a taxpayer's claim because a similar claim was previously raised by another taxpayer, regardless of privity?
- 2. Does due process require that a class action be certified before a class representative's case binds absent class members?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 25, 2021, a complaint was filed by Joshua Penner and Todd McKellips against Central Puget Sound Regional Transit Authority ("CPSRTA") and the State of Washington on behalf of themselves and a class of similarly situated motor vehicle owners. The complaint alleged that CPSRTA had illegally collected a motor vehicle excise tax ("MVET") based on valuation tables that had never been authorized by statute. Both CPSRTA and the State—the two government entities responsible for

collecting the MVET—claimed that they had been unable, for over a decade, to determine that they were using the wrong MVET schedule. Because the authorized schedule requires slightly higher vehicle valuations for certain newer vehicles, numerous statutes and public authorizing votes misstated the effect of CPSRTA's tax authorizations. Both CPSRTA and the State represent that they were unaware of these misstatements, and no citizen, including plaintiffs and the class they represent, could be expected to know of such misstatements when they voted to approve an increased MVET. Plaintiffs also alleged in their complaint that CPSRTA knowingly concealed its non-compliance with the correct, higher MVET schedule, tolling any statute of limitations until the truth was revealed in September 2019.

Plaintiffs sought discovery of documents relevant to their claims, but were denied access to those documents pending CPSRTA's legal challenge to the plaintiffs' right to sue. CPSRTA claimed that (1) *Black et al. v. Central Puget Sound Regional Transit Authority*, 195 Wn.2d 198, 457 P.3d 453 (2020) ("*Black I*"), was binding precedent foreclosing any of the claims challenging CPSRTA's use of its valuation tables; (2) a previous suit brought by Taylor Black et al., Pierce County No. 19-2-11073-8 ("*Black II*"), had res judicata and collateral estoppel effect, barring the suit brought by Penner and McKellips—even though Penner and McKellips had never

been a party to the suit brought in *Black II*; and (3) *Pierce County v. State*, 159 Wn.2d 16, 148 P.3d 1002 (2006) ("*Pierce County II*"), not only permitted, but actually required, CPSRTA to continue collecting an MVET based on the valuation tables in use at the time it issued bonds to which the MVET revenue had been pledged. CPSRTA insisted that any legislation resulting in a reduction of the MVET valuation base would be an unconstitutional impairment of contract, without regard for any measurement of the effect on revenue or the continued availability of contract remedies. On April 18, 2022, Superior Court Judge Susan Adams ruled in favor of CPSRTA, agreeing with each of CPSRTA's arguments.

Penner timely appealed.¹ Division 2 of the Court of Appeals published its opinion on March 21, 2023, holding that res judicata barred Penner's claim. The opinion claimed to find a "common public interest exception" to the requirements of res judicata, relying on two lines of cases: first, two cases more than a century old, applying what has been called a "common-law kind of class action." *Taylor v. Sturgell*, 553 U.S. 880, 901 (2008) (cleaned up). In addition, the court held that the rule applied in *In re Election Contest Filed by Coday*, 156 Wn.2d 485, 130 P.3d 809 (2006),

¹ Penner filed a Petition for Direct Review by this Court, which then transferred the case to Division 2 of the Court of Appeals.

which permitted res judicata to be applied to non-parties who challenged election results or initiated recall petitions, also applied to other cases involving a "common public interest"—even though the rule in *Coday* was found to be necessary to avoid "subject[ing] an elected official to answer the same charges each time a different citizen is willing to put their name on a recall petition." *Matter of Recall of Fortney*, 199 Wn.2d 109, 124, 503 P.3d 556 (2022). ²

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

By claiming to find a "common public interest exception" to the requirements for applying res judicata, Division 2 has introduced a substantial departure from traditional principles of due process previously recognized by this Court. Even if such a departure were to be recognized, its boundaries must be defined in a way that is consistent with due process.

-

² In addition, as discussed below, Division 2 cited dicta from a variety of other cases, which purported to recognize a "common public interest exception" to the requirements for res judicata.

A. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the Court of Appeals' application of res judicata conflicts with other decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), review is warranted if a decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with other decisions from this Court or the Court of Appeals. Division 2's application of res judicata in this case conflicts with other decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals in multiple respects, any one of which would justify review.

1. The existing standard for res judicata preserves a litigant's due process right to be heard

To apply res judicata, the court must find four elements, or types of identity, between the current action and the previous action; there must be identity of (1) subject matter; (2) cause of action; (3) **persons or parties**; and (4) quality of persons. *Weaver v. City of Everett*, 194 Wn.2d 464, 450 P.3d 177 (2019). If res judicata applies, it bars not only relitigation of those issues resolved in the previous proceeding, but also bars any claim that *could have been brought* based on the same "subject matter." *Id.* Because of the effect of applying res judicata—to deny a litigant his or her day in court—previous cases have been careful to ensure that application of the doctrine is consistent with due process, as the following sections demonstrate.

a. The inclusion of parties in privity with the original party is consistent with due process

In determining whether there is identity of "persons or parties," courts have properly included those "in privity" with the original party in determining whether a subsequent claim should be barred. Not only does the recognition of the privity rule promote the goals of res judicata—to "prevent piecemeal litigation and ensure the finality of judgments" —but it is also consistent with due process, since one in privity with the original litigant not only has notice of the original suit but also has the opportunity to intervene if the party subject to res judicata believes that the original suit does not fully protect the interests at stake. No such notice or opportunity to intervene is present in the case at bar.

Although the Court of Appeals states at one point that "Penner and Black . . . are in privity for res judicata purposes," 525 P.3d at 1015, no such finding was ever made by the trial court, nor argued by CPSRTA, nor does it comply with existing standards for determining who is "in privity" with a previous party. Indeed, in *Stevens County. v. Futurewise*, 146 Wn.App. 493, 192 P.3d 1 (2008)—one of the cases relied upon by the Court of Appeals—the election cases are characterized as "an exception to strict

³ Spokane Research & Defense Fund v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 99, 117 P.3d 1117, 1123 (2005).

adherence to the privity rule of res judicata." *Id.* at 505. As the Court held in *Loveridge v. Fred Meyer, Inc.*, 125 Wn.2d 759, 764, 887 P.2d 898, 900 (1995) (cleaned up; emphasis added):

Privity does not arise from the mere fact that persons as litigants are interested in the same question or in proving or disproving the same state of facts. Privity within the meaning of the doctrine of res judicata is privity as it exists in relation to the subject matter of the litigation, and the rule is construed strictly to mean parties claiming under the same title. It denotes mutual or successive relationship to the same right or property. [¶] Privity is established in cases where a person is in actual control of the litigation, or substantially participates in it even though not in actual control.

In other words, the Court of Appeals did not resolve this case according to the traditional definition of what constitutes privity with a prior litigant; instead, it used the "common public interest exception" to satisfy the "identity of persons or parties" element of res judicata.

b. The additional (narrow) exception for election challenges (*Coday*) is also consistent with due process

The one significant exception to the third requirement of identity of persons and parties has been applied to challenges to elected officials, where successive parties either seek to invalidate an election, or seek to recall an official once in office. *In re Election Contest Filed by Coday*, 156 Wn.2d 485, 130 P.3d 809 (2006); *In re Recall of Pearsall-Stipek*, 136 Wn.2d 255, 961 P.2d 343 (1998); and *Matter of Recall of Fortney*, 199 Wn.2d 109, 503 P.3d 556 (2022). In such cases res judicata can properly be applied to bar a

subsequent election challenge if a previous challenge on the same grounds had been rejected. Given the notoriety of election challenges or recall efforts, any person contemplating such a case is on notice of the pendency of such a case, and can choose to intervene or otherwise participate in the case. Moreover, there are strong public interests both in resolving election disputes as well as in preventing the use of the judicial system to "subject an elected official to answer the same charges each time a different citizen is willing to put their name on a recall petition." *Fortney*, 199 Wn.2d at 124.

c. No previous case has expanded res judicata beyond these two exceptions

It is significant that no prior case has extended res judicata beyond the two exceptions identified above. Division 2 cited two additional cases that purportedly applied the "common public interest exception," but neither stands for the proposition relied upon by Division 2.

In *Harley H. Hoppe & Associates, Inc. v. King County*, 162 Wn.App. 40, 255 P.3d 819 (2011), Hoppe filed a Public Records Act (PRA) request for documents held by King County. The County refused and the trial court upheld the refusal because the documents were exempt. Amy Hoppe (both an employee of the company as well as the owner's daughter) filed a similar request, which the trial court also found excluded from the

PRA. Amy Hoppe appealed that decision, and the County cross-appealed, asking for a dismissal of her claim on res judicata. The bulk of the opinion addresses the merits of the PRA claim and affirms the trial court's finding that the requested documents were exempt from disclosure. Before reaching the merits, however, Division 1 considers whether res judicata should have barred Amy Hoppe's claim. Significantly, Division 1 noted that "Amy Hoppe is in sufficient privity with Hoppe to satisfy the concurrence of identity inquiry and thus meets the third and fourth elements of a res judicata analysis." *Hoppe*, 162 Wn.App. at 51-52. In other words, *Hoppe* falls within the existing rule applying res judicata to parties in privity, and cannot be said to have recognized a "common public interest exception" to the requirement that there be identity of persons or parties..

P.3d 1 (2008), one group of citizens filed a challenge to the County's adoption of a Critical Areas Ordinance. When a later group, which had advised the first group, filed a similar challenge, the County argued that it was barred by res judicata, because the two groups shared the same "legal interests," citing the election cases. Although Division 3 recognized the "voter exception to the privity requirement," *Futurewise*, 146 Wn.App. at 505, and described it in more general terms, it ultimately rejected the County's argument. Again, nothing in the opinion adopts the "common

public interest exception" that Division 2 claims permits the application of res judicata.

2. Division 2's new "common public interest exception" would displace CR 23 as a means to grant finality while recognizing the right to be heard

There is a means by which a "common public interest" can be litigated once with finality: it is by certifying a class action pursuant to CR 23. Indeed, in this case CPSRTA was offered (in *Black I*) a means to obtain the preclusive effect they now claim to be entitled to. Plaintiffs' counsel proposed a stipulation agreeing to the certification of a class. CPSRTA refused—but now seeks to gain the benefits of class certification without taking any of its risks.

a. <u>Forgues was effectively abrogated by the adoption of CR</u> 23

Division 2's opinion treats a century-old (pre-CR 23) case as though it determined the merits of this case. In *State ex rel. Forgues v. Superior Court of Lewis County*, 70 Wash. 670, 127 P. 313 (1912), a taxpayer challenged the validity of a petition seeking to submit to the voters a question regarding the sale of alcohol. The challenge was dismissed by the trial court. A later challenge was filed by a different taxpayer. The court held that the decision in the first case was res judicata with respect to the second action, because

a judgment for or against a municipal corporation, in a suit concerning a matter which is of general interest to all the citizens or taxpayers thereof, as the levy and collection of taxes, or public contracts or other obligations, or public property, its title, character or boundaries, is binding, not only on the municipality and its officers, but also upon such citizens or taxpayers, in so far as concerns their rights or interests as members of the general public, although not in respect to rights which they hold as individuals, peculiar to themselves and not shared with the public.

Forgues, 70 Wash. at 673-74.4 Forgues has not been cited since the adoption of CR 23—for good reason. CR 23 provided a mechanism whereby a binding judgment could be entered on a claim brought on behalf of all taxpayers against a government entity. Significantly, however, CR 23 provides detailed protections insuring that before a judgment is entered against absent class members, they have been given adequate notice of the pendency of the case, an opportunity to participate or opt out of the class action, and a court has determined that the interests of all of the class members would be well represented before a binding judgment was entered.

If the rule stated in *Forgues* continued to be good law, a defendant who had successfully blocked the certification of a class could then enter into a settlement with the putative class representative, and if any

⁴ The Division 2 opinion also cites *In re Assessment for Loc. Imp. Sewer Dist. No. 1 of City of Chehalis*, 84 Wash. 565 (1915) (*Summersett*). *Summersett* rejected the application of res judicata to the facts of that case,

but restated with approval the rule announced in Forgues.

11

subsequent suit were filed seeking the same relief, the defendant could cite the rule announced in *Forgues* and ask the court to apply res judicata to bar the claim. Doing so would stand CR 23 on its head. Yet that is precisely the disposition approved by Division 2.

Division 2's opinion rejects the comparison to class actions governed by CR 23, suggesting that

it has not been shown that a class action is necessarily a superior form of litigation to a declaratory judgment action with application of the common public interest exception for res judicata. Indeed, the doctrine of res judicata in this context has its own elements that provide protection for future litigants, like requiring the same cause of action, same subject matter, and a final decision. And the additional requirements derived from *Coday* of identical common public interest and adequate representation provide further protection to the taxpayers who are not actual litigants.

525 P.3d at 1018. Of course there are different types of class actions, some of which require notice and the opportunity to "opt out," while others do not. But because of the due process implications of a class action, CR 23 imposes a series of *ex ante* requirements to insure that the entry of a judgment binding on all class members would be consistent with principles of notice and fairness. By contrast, the broad "common public interest exception" advanced by Division 2 relies on an uncertain, *ex post* evaluation of various factors to determine whether the previous disposition should be

binding on all similarly situated parties. Such a vague standard fails to satisfy the requirements of due process.

b. <u>If a broad "common public interest exception" is to be</u> permitted as a basis for res judicata, it should be adopted by this Court

Division 2's claim to find a "common public interest exception" to the long-standing rules of res judicata and its resurrection of Forgues from its century-old slumber create profound implications for the understanding of CR 23. No longer would CR23 be the primary means by which dispositive rulings can be issued against a party lacking any privity with prior litigants. If the first bite of the apple taken by a previous litigant becomes the only bite of the apple for every citizen with a common interest, it will be necessary for citizens to monitor litigation to determine whether their interests are adequately protected, because they could easily be determined by a future court to be bound by the outcome of that case. The Forgues case involved a taxpayer claim, but the Futurewise case (cited by Division 2 as additional authority for this "common public interest exception") did not. To what kinds of cases involving the "public interest" does the exception apply? It is a strong argument against adopting such an exception that it forces litigants to guess at what some future court might do if asked to apply it. But even if it were to become recognized, the scope of this exception should be clarified by this Court.

B. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) because the Court of Appeals decision presents a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be addressed by this Court.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(3), review is warranted "[i]f a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved[.]" (Brackets added). Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), review is warranted "[i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court." (Brackets added.) Both provisions apply here. To be consistent with due process, the conditions for applying res judicata should be carefully delineated.

1. Due process requires that a litigant's right to a day in court is respected

"Neither the doctrine of res judicata nor collateral estoppel are intended to deny a litigant his day in court." *Luisi Truck Lines, Inc. v. Washington Utilities and Transp. Commission*, 72 Wn.2d 887, 894, 435 P.2d 654 (1967). "It is a principle of general application in Anglo-American jurisprudence that one is not bound by a judgment in personam in a litigation in which he is not designated as a party or to which he has not been made a party by service of process." *Taylor v. Sturgell*, 553 U.S. 880, 884 (2008) (internal quotations removed). At the same time, of course, once a litigant has had his or her day in court (his "one bite of the apple"), res judicata is properly applied to deny a second "bite of the apple." *Id*.

Here, however, neither Penner nor McKellips has had his day in court, and neither CPSRTA nor the Court of Appeals contends otherwise. Instead, Division 2 held that a special principle created for and applied exclusively in election cases should be extended to this case and all cases in which a "common public interest" is involved⁵—particularly cases challenging taxes. This court recently reaffirmed the narrow exception to the requirement of prior participation, namely those cases when a voter seeks relief against an elected official. In such cases the resolution of the previous challenge is binding on other voters who raise similar challenges. Matter of Recall of Fortney, 199 Wn.2d 109, 503 P.3d 556 (2022), citing In re Recall of Pearsall-Stipek, 129 Wn.2d 339, 961 P.2d 343 (1996). In the unique situation where successive challenges could be brought against the same elected official asserting the same charges, "we [the court] will not subject an elected official to answer the same charges each time a different citizen is willing to put their name on a recall petition." Fortney, 503 P.3d

-

⁵ Although this case involves a challenge to the calculation of a tax, CPSRTA argued for an even broader exception—whenever "public rights" are involved. Even though the exception adopted by the Court of Appeals (a "common public interest") does not precisely track CPSRTA's argument, it provides little guidance as to what kinds of cases are subject to res judicata because they involve a "common public interest." Because this ill-defined concept provides no notice to potential litigants that their claims may be barred by a suit brought by a different party, it fails to satisfy the constitutional requirement of due process.

at 566. However, this principle has been limited to challenges against elected officials, who have no defense against successive lawsuits asserting identical claims.

If the unique circumstance of suits against elected officials is ignored, and the same rule is extended to bar suits by any litigant who has a "unity of interest" with a previous litigant, the bedrock right to due process—the "principle of general application"—will no longer apply.

2. The U.S. Supreme Court has rejected comparable attempts to expand res judicata

In *Taylor v. Sturgell*, 553 U.S. 880 (2008), the U.S. Supreme Court rejected a similar invitation to expand the scope of res judicata. In *Taylor*, Greg Herrick filed a Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request with the FAA for the plans and specifications of a vintage aircraft. The FAA refused to comply with the FOIA request. When Herrick sued, the district court sided with the FAA, and the 10th Circuit affirmed the dismissal. A month later, Brent Taylor, a friend and fellow antique aircraft enthusiast, filed a functionally identical FOIA request, and after it was denied, he sued the FAA. The district court held that Taylor had been "virtually represented" by Herrick, and dismissed the case on the basis of res judicata. The D.C. Circuit affirmed. The Supreme Court granted certiorari and reversed. The trial judge in *Taylor* had relied on reasoning very similar to that advanced

by CPSRTA here: that there was "identity of interests" between the party to be bound and the subject of the previous judgment. The D.C. Circuit affirmed, but thought that due process required the presence of two factors: first, that there was identity of interests, and second that there was adequate representation. In addition, the D.C. Circuit required one of three additional factors to be proven: (1) a close relationship between the present party and his putative representative; (2) substantial participation by the present party in the first case; or (3) tactical maneuvering on the part of the present party to avoid preclusion by the prior judgment. This test was satisfied, said the D.C. Circuit, because Herrick and Taylor had an identity of interests, and Taylor had received notice of Herrick's earlier suit (a strong factor in determining whether there was adequate representation). In addition, Taylor was a "close associate" of Herrick. Thus, said the D.C. Circuit, Taylor had been "virtually represented" in the previous suit brought by Herrick, and his case was properly barred by res judicata.

The Supreme Court unanimously rejected this version of "virtual representation." Instead, due process permits nonparties to be precluded in only a limited number of cases, none of which were shown to have applied

to Taylor, and none of which apply here. The five-factor test carefully crafted by the D.C. Circuit to permit preclusion of nonparties—the standard of "virtual representation"—was insufficient to satisfy the United States Supreme Court. CPSRTA argued in previous briefing that it need not satisfy the "virtual representation" standard, and the version of "virtual representation" adopted by Division 2 is significantly weaker than the one rejected by the U.S. Supreme Court. The "common public interest exception" to the requirements of res judicata plainly cannot satisfy the due process protections reaffirmed by the United States Supreme Court in *Taylor*.

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