FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/19/2023 4:50 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101916-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON

JOSHUA PENNER and TODD MCKELLIPS, individually and
on behalf of a class of all persons similarly situated,

Petitioners/Plaintiffs,

v.

CENTRAL PUGET SOUND REGIONAL TRANSIT
AUTHORITY and STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents/Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PACIFICA LAW GROUP LLP
Paul J. Lawrence, WSBA #13557
Jacob A. Zuniga, WSBA #48458
1191 2nd Avenue, Suite 2000
Seattle, Washington 98101
206-245-1700

CENTRAL PUGET SOUND REGIONAL
TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Desmond L. Brown, WSBA #16232
Mattelyn L. Tharpe, WSBA #53743
401 South Jackson Street

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with 100 plus years of settled law.

Penner argues the Court of Appeals decision reflects a "substantial departure" from prior res judicata/collateral estoppel case law. Penner is wrong. The decision is consistent with, not contrary to, prior decisions of this Court. Taxpayers and citizens whose interests are the same as those asserted in prior cases dealing with public rights are bound by judgments reached in those prior cases. *In re Coday*, 156 Wn.2d 485, 501, 130 P.3d 809 (2006).

This Court addressed the issue squarely in the context of multiple taxpayer suits challenging the validity of an enacted law in 1912. As the Court of Appeals determined, *State ex rel. Forgues v. Superior Ct. of Lewis Cnty.*, 70 Wn. 670, 673-674, 127 P. 313 (1912) (*Forgues*), is on point and still good law.

In *Forgues*, the Court considered whether a suit to invalidate legislation was barred by an earlier judgment that resolved the same claims by a different taxpayer. The Court held it was.

A judgment in a suit between a taxpayer and a municipality. . . concerning a matter which is of general interest to all the citizens or taxpayers thereof, [such] as the levy and collection of taxes . . . is binding, not only on the municipality and its officers, but also upon such citizens or taxpayers, in so far as [it] concerns their rights or interests as members of the general public.

Forgues, 70 Wn. at 673-674. *Forgues* has been cited in subsequent decisions, but never questioned by this Court.

B. Civil Rule 23 did not abrogate *Forgues*.

Penner does not dispute that if still good law, *Forgues* resolves this case. Penner instead argues *Forgues* was

abrogated by this Court’s adoption of CR 23. Penner cites no case law supporting that notion, and none exists. CR 23 was adopted to provide **additional** means to efficiently litigate certain controversies, its adoption did not **extinguish** other forms of action that are of equal or superior efficiency compared to a class action.

As the Court of Appeals noted, and CR 23(b)(3) states, class actions are appropriate only when that method of action is “superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient administration of the controversy.” CR 23(b)(3). Penner has made no such showing here, nor can they. As this Court well knows, cases challenging the facial validity of a law, including under Washington Constitution Article 2, Sections 19 and 39 (i.e., the Sections at issue in this case), are routinely brought as taxpayer declaratory judgment actions, not taxpayer class actions.² Indeed, declaratory judgment actions provide

² See, e.g., *Lee v. State of Wash.*, 185 Wn.2d 608, 616, 374 P.3d 157 (2016); *Wash. Ass’n for Substance Abuse & Violence*

taxpayers (and courts) the most efficient, and therefore superior, method for deciding cases that broadly impact Washington taxpayers. Success by a declaratory judgment taxpayer asserting public (as opposed to private or individual) rights inure for the benefit of all like taxpayers. *Forgues*, 70 Wn. at 673-674. In fact, given the class certification and notice standards applicable under CR 23, taxpayer class actions are substantially more cumbersome than an action for declaratory relief.

Quinn v. State of Wash., --- Wn.2d ---, ---, 526 P.3d 1, 7 (2023) is a recent example. In that case, this Court in a taxpayer declaratory judgment action upheld the Washington capital gains tax against several facial constitutional challenges. The case was not brought as a class action. The case resolved the facial constitutionality of the tax for all Washingtonians. Under

Prevention v. State of Wash., 174 Wn.2d 642, 653-54, 278 P.3d 632 (2012); *City of Burien v. Kiga*, 144 Wn.2d 819, 824, 31 P.3d 659 (2001); *Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587 v. State of Wash.*, 142 Wn.2d 183, 206, 11 P.3d 762 (2000); *State ex rel. Wash. Toll Bridge Auth. v. Yelle*, 32 Wn.2d 13, 23, 200 P.2d 467 (1948).

Penner's view, any taxpayer not a party to *Quinn* should be free to file their own duplicative suit in any county in the state.

C. The Court of Appeals did not expand this Court's prior decisions, it soundly applied them.

Penner argues there is no limiting principle if *Forgues* precludes this suit. But this Court already rejected such a position when discussing collateral estoppel in a taxpayer case concerning public rights. In *In re Assessment for Loc. Imp. Sewer Dist. No. 1*, 84 Wn. 565, 575-576, 147 P.199 (1915) (*Summersett*) this Court held:

When [a prior judgment] is sought to bind a citizen or taxpayer of a municipality by the application of this doctrine, it must be remembered that he is not by such a judgment precluded from asserting any right which he holds as an individual peculiar to himself, and which he does not share with the public.

Summersett, 84 Wn. at 571. Here, Penner assert no right peculiar to themselves.

Moreover, this Court recently applied the rationale of *Forgues* to a series of cases involving recall petitions of elected officers. *In re Coday*, 156 Wn.2d at 501; *In re Recall of*

Pearsall-Stipek, 141 Wn.2d 756, 762, 10 P.3d 1034 (2000);
Matter of Recall of Fortney, 199 Wn.2d 109, 124, 503 P.3d 556
(2022). Other than stating that election cases are different than
constitutional taxpayer challenges, Penner offers no substantive
rationale that distinguishes *Forges* and *Summersett* from
Coday, *Persall-Stipek*, or *Fortney*. In each sets of cases,
taxpayers and citizens share a common interest in the respective
outcome of a tax challenge or recall petition. Moreover, as the
Court of Appeals aptly noted, the potential for vexatious
litigation effecting public officials and entities is the same in
both contexts.

Combining *Forgues*, *Summersett*, and *Coday* with
their progeny, we hold that the common public
interest exception for res judicata should only
apply when the interests of the parties are both
identical and of a clearly public nature and,
importantly, there has been adequate
representation.

Penner v. Cent. Puget Sound Reg'l Transit Auth., --- Wn. App.
2d. ---, ---, 525 P.3d 1010, 1018 (2023).

Penner next suggests that if a “broad” exception is to be adopted, then this Court should be the one to do so. But the exception applied here is not broad, nor is it new; it applies to taxpayer facial challenges concerning the legality of a law, the same situation as in *Forgues*. *Forgues* requires the full, fair, and final litigation of an issue. And it requires adequate representation in the initial lawsuit. Here, nothing in the record suggests the resolution in *Black II* was not full, fair, or final. Moreover, as the Court of Appeals concluded, Penner cannot credibly question the adequacy of Black’s representation because the lawyers for Black and Penner are the same. *Id.*

Finally, to the extent Penner asks the Court to delineate the types of cases “involving the ‘public interest’” to which *Penner* applies (Petition at 13), the issue is not properly before this Court. Here, the Court of Appeals did not modify existing precedent or create new law. The court instead considered the undisputed material facts and applied them to *Forgues* and *Summersett*. *See id.* at 1016. Whether *Forgues* and *Summersett*

should extend to other public interests (beyond those also in *Coday*) is a hypothetical this Court should reserve for another day. *Lakeside Indus., Inc. v. Wash. State Dep't of Rev.*, --- Wn.2d ---, ---, 524 P.3d 639, 645 (2023) (“Advisory opinions should be issued only on those rare occasions where the interest of the public in the resolution of an issue is overwhelming and where the issue has been adequately briefed and argued.”) (cleaned up).

D. Applying collateral estoppel does not deprive Penner of their day in court.

Citing *Luisi Truck Lines, Inc. v. Washington Utilities & Transportation Commission*, 72 Wn.2d 887, 435 P.2d 654 (1967) and *Taylor v. Sturgell*, 553 U.S. 880, 128 S. Ct. 2161, 171 L. Ed. 2d. 155 (2008), Penner contends to have been deprived their day in court. However neither *Taylor* nor *Luisi* support that position.

In *Luisi*, Washington’s Utilities and Transportation Commission successfully prosecuted Luisi for unlawfully hauling canned goods. In a subsequent revocation action, the

Commission decided the initial proceedings foreclosed a position Luisi advanced and issued a second revocation. The *Luisi* court concluded the second revocation could not stand as the second action implicated matters the first action did not. In this way, *Luisi* merely holds that for collateral estoppel to apply, prior proceedings must resolve a claim or issue subsequent proceedings seek to reraise. *Id.* at 893-894.

Unlike in *Luisi*, all of Penner's claims were fully and fairly adjudicated in *Black II*.

Taylor is similarly inapposite. 553 U.S. at 903. *Taylor* concerns "virtual representation" in litigation involving a federal statutory public records claim. Under the pertinent statute, individuals can make records requests, but such requests are unique to the requester and therefore implicate individual interests, not public rights.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals correctly noted that the case only addressed federal not state law. Penner suggests the distinction is not relevant. But when it comes to claims asserted

based on taxpayer status, the difference between federal and state law is significant. Federal taxpayer claims are generally disfavored because of heightened standing requirements in federal court that require plaintiffs to show individual harm. *See Flast v. Cohen*, 392 U.S. 83, 103-06, 88 S. Ct. 1942, 20 L. Ed. 2d 947 (1968). Under Washington law, taxpayer standing to challenge unconstitutional laws, such as here, is freely given. *See Lee*, 185 Wn.2d at 614. Plaintiffs in such state cases consequently represent all taxpayers and do not have to show individualized harm.

Further, *Taylor* explicitly preserves a state's ability to limit repetitive litigation involving "public-law claims." 553 U.S. at 903. There can be little dispute that a challenge to the constitutionality of a state statute is a public-law claim in the same way that litigation concerning a recall petition is a public-law claim.

Finally, Penner suggests *Taylor's* public-law exception only applies to statutory claims, but *Taylor* does not say that.

Neither *Taylor* nor any of the cases cited therein address a facial challenge by a taxpayer who alleges a law violates a state constitutional provision. The rule typified by *Coday*, *Summersett*, and *Forgues* does not conflict *Taylor*.

Finally, Penner's reading of *Taylor* is also unworkable because, if accepted, it would require the overruling of *Summersett*, *Forgues*, and *Coday*, each of which is not a statutory decision.

By alleging violations under Article II, Sections 19 and 37, *Black II* challenged a tax that did not uniquely or specifically affect Penner in any way different than all other taxpayers.³ Due process consequently did not require that Penner receive individualized notice of *Black II*, or an opportunity to be heard in that case, before binding Penner to the *Black II* judgment. *Forgues*, 70 Wn. at 673-674. Likewise,

³ Indeed, the complaint in this case and the amended complaint *Black II* dismissed allege both sets of plaintiffs share the same claims and interests as all Sound Transit taxpayers. *See* CP 63:5-7, 702:18-706:3.

due process does support Penner's attempt to relitigate issues that were fully resolved through that judgment. *Id.*

V. CONCLUSION

Penner argues that they and every Sound Transit taxpayer has a right to bring facial challenges concerning Sound Transit's MVET identical to those which have already been rejected. Such a rule would impose a significant burden on the state's courts and permit unwarranted harassment of a public entity. Moreover, the Court of Appeals decision here is consistent with Washington's long-standing limitation on duplicative taxpayer lawsuits where the taxpayers were adequately represented and the issues fully and fairly litigated.

Penner's Petition for Review should be denied.

I certify that the foregoing document contains 3,266 words in accordance with RAP 18.17.